RECEIVED

Jan 03 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2024-001127

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Marvin H. Dukes III, Master in Equity

and Special Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2023-CP-07-01127

Stax Building & Development, LLC

Appellant,

v.

HHI Yacht Club Ventures, LLC

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did The Trial Court Err In Granting Respondent's Motion To Dismiss Appellant's Lien?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is before the Court on Appellant's appeal of the trial court's Order granting Respondent's Motion to Dismiss Lien. Prior to appeal, Appellant filed a Rule 59 Motion to Alter and Amend, which was denied. Upon information and belief, transcripts are not available for the hearing on Motion to Dismiss lien or the hearing on the Motion to Alter and Amend the trail court's Order.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant is a construction company whom built five condominium units in the Yacht Cove community on Hilton Head Island while under contract with the Respondent HHI Yacht Club Ventures, LLC, the owner of the underlying improved real property. Appellant's lawsuit demands damages in the amount of \$422,222 representing unpaid sums claimed due under its contract and/or under theories of unjust enrichment, together with fees and costs, as a result of Respondent's breach (Record at pp 31-37). To secure its claim, Appellant timely filed a mechanic's lien against the improved real property on February 8, 2023 (Record at p11). Although Appellant is and was a licensed builder at the time it performed its work and on the date it filed its lien, its initial lien failed to state Appellant's builder's license number on the face of the lien. The omission was not intentional. Rather, counsel for Appellant whom filed the lien for Appellant was unaware that the license number of a currently licensed contract was required to be stated on the lien, having filed many liens in the past without the license number included. Appellant's initial Complaint and an amended lien increasing the secured claim were filed June 13 (Record at p 38).

Appellant ‘subsequently amended its lien as additional sums due were discovered, and then amended and re-filed its lien for a second time by increasing its lien demand and including its builders license number next to its name in the lien text. The current lien of record, amended July 13, 2023, states Appellant’s South Carolina builders license number (Record at p 14).

ARGUMENT

As is set forth in its Order, the trial Court’s decision to dismiss the lien of record in this matter was due the omission by filing counsel of a South Carolina builder’s license number on the face of the lien as initially filed. As noted in the Order, the alleged defect was eventually corrected prior to the filing of a Motion to Dismiss for the Appellant by counsel’s filing of an amended lien stating the license number.

A. Appellant asserts that the result reached by the Court, in dismissing the lien, is not required by the statute or an equitable result under the circumstances. The South Carolina lien statute, Section 29-5-15, as amended in 2009, states “To file a mechanics' lien, a contractor must provide the county clerk of court or register of deeds proof that he is licensed or registered if he is required by law to be licensed or registered. As proof of licensure or registration, the contractor must record his contractor license number or registration number on the lien document when the lien document is filed.”. At hearing, the trial court concluded that the statutory instruction using the word “must” and concluded that this instruction is a mandatory, essential requirement. Appellant argues that the statute does not instruct or require that a lien that is missing an existing license number be stricken or dismissed upon challenge. Indeed, one of the purposes, if not the primary purpose, for requiring the contractor’s license stated on the face of the lien or ostensibly by separate representation to the Clerk of Court is to

ensure that ineligible persons or entities, in this instance being unlicensed persons or entities, would not file improper liens. The statutory requirement was intended to ensure that only licensed contractors file liens, and not to disqualify liens due to a non-material omission.

In the instant case, Appellant Stax Building and Development LLC possessed a valid South Carolina commercial contractor's license when counsel filed its initial lien in February, 2023. (Record at p30). Respondent was aware that Stax possessed a commercial buildings license because the license was posted on the building permits for the project, provided to Respondent at its request, provided to the Town of Hilton Head as condition of obtaining the building permit and was also a matter of public record at SC LLR. Respondent and/or its principal worked with Stax and its principals on numerous jobs prior to the Yacht Cove job. Respondent was not prejudiced in any manner by the omission of Stax' license number stated on the initial lien. A copy of the SC LLR site noting the existence of the license since 2021 is in the record of the proceedings below.

South Carolina General Assembly Act 40, 2009 amended the lien statute to include a requirement to include the contractor's license. This requirement was not added to the statute to provide a remedy to dismiss liens for non-paying owners due to a technical mistake by the lienor or counsel. The Act is indexed as an Act relating to the inclusion of landscapers into the lien statute framework and the first section of the Act specifically addresses landscapers.

Section 2 of the Act provides:

SECTION 2. Chapter 5, Title 29 of the 1976 Code is amended by adding:

“Section 29-5-15. (A) To file a mechanics' lien, a contractor must provide the county clerk of court or register of deeds proof that he is licensed or registered if he is required by law to be licensed or registered. As proof of licensure or registration, the contractor must record his contractor license number or registration number on the lien document when the lien document is filed.

(B) A contractor who files a frivolous lien is subject to a fine up to five thousand dollars, the loss of his registration or contractor license, or both.”

Section 3 of the Act further provides:

SECTION 3. Section 29-5-120 of the 1976 Code is amended to read:

“Section 29-5-120. (A) Unless a suit for enforcing the lien is commenced and notice of pendency of the action is filed within six months after the person desiring to avail himself of it ceases to labor on or furnish labor

or material for the building or structure, the lien must be dissolved.

(B) A mechanics' lien and associated bonds may be released by a court order, a written affidavit of the bond holder's attorney, or by a written affidavit from the defendant's attorney stating:

- (1) six months has passed since the lien was attached and no suit or notice of pendency has been filed; or
- (2) the failure of the filing party to take some other timely action required by this chapter. This affidavit must be in the form approved by the appropriate local office where the mechanics' lien was filed and must reference the lien's recording information."

Section 4 of the Act further provides:

SECTION 4. Section 40-59-30 of the 1976 Code is amended to read:

"Section 40-59-30. (A) A person or firm who engages or offers to engage in the business of residential building or residential specialty contracting without first having registered with the commission or procured a license from the commission, which has not expired or been revoked, suspended, or restricted or who knowingly presents to, or files with, the commission false information for the purpose of obtaining a license or registering with the commission is guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, must be fined not less than five hundred dollars or more than ten thousand dollars or imprisoned for not less than thirty days, or both.

(B) Notwithstanding Section 29-5-10, or another provision of law, a person or firm who first has not procured a license or registered with the commission and is required to do so by law may not file a mechanics' lien or bring an action at law or in equity to enforce the provisions of a contract for residential building or residential specialty contracting which the person or firm entered into in violation of this chapter.

(C) Pursuant to Article 5, Chapter 23, Title 1, the commission may petition an administrative law judge to issue a temporary restraining order enjoining a violation of this chapter, pending a full hearing to determine whether the injunction must be made permanent.

It is important to note Section 4 of the Act amends a different section of the Code—the licensing section, and thus is reflective of the legislative intent of the Act. It was designed to address the legally problematic issue of unlicensed contractors operating in South Carolina, and specifically the problem caused by unlicensed contractors filing liens in South Carolina. Counsel spoke with one of the sponsors of the bill, former State Representative Richard Chalk from Hilton Head. Mr. Chalk did not recall the specifics of the floor debate fifteen years ago and stated his journals were not available due to loss in a hurricane flood. Mr. Chalk reaffirmed that the purpose of the law, to his recollection, was to ensure that only licensed contractors filed liens.

It is also important to note that Section 4 (B) of the Act states that a contractor may not file a mechanics lien without a license. The Act does not state that a lien without a license number stated is uncurable or fatal to the enforcement of the lien.

B. The statute does not impose a time limit for the contractor to file separate proof of licensure to the Clerk of Court or Register of Deeds, if such proof is not on the face of the lien.

In the case before the Court, the record reflects that upon learning of the requirement, Appellant caused an amended lien to be filed which states the current and applicable builder's license. Thus, the last amended lien filed in the matter satisfies the second procedure stated in the statute by informing the Clerk of Court or Register of Deeds that the contractor was licensed at the time of filing of the amended lien and was licensed at the time of the initial lien.

In the proceedings below, Respondent argued that the amendment provisions of the statute, and specifically Section 29-5-100 should be interpreted as permitting an amendment to a lien to narrowly include only instances where the amendment or correction relates to the description of the property subject to the lien description. Respondent argues that this is the only stated reason a lien can be amended. This interpretation is in conflict with lien practice in South Carolina, where liens are regularly amended to correct dates, lien amounts, property descriptions, other substantive and typographical errors and in this case, to add the contractor's license to the face of lien. The effect of the trial court's Order granting the Motion to Dismiss Lien would create precedent that a lien could only be amended after the ninety (90) day filing window to correct the legal description stated on the lien. This requirement and interpretation is not found in the statute and contravenes lien practice statewide.

The lien statute does not specifically instruct on the timing of amended liens. Thus, the lien statute does not expressly require that non material omissions, technical omissions or scriveners' errors be remedied within the initial ninety day window after the work was last performed. The omission of a valid, existing builder's license is akin to a scrivener's error. Indeed, a construction of the statute that both limits amendments in scope and requires all amendments, be they substantive or technical, to be filed within the initial ninety day window after work was last performed would essentially bar amendments since many liens are filed near or at the 90 day deadline due to marketplace realities. Generally, construction contractors

do not file liens unless work is not timely paid and is past due, and collect sums due through demand and negotiation before resorting to the legal process. A construction of the statute that voids amendments made after the ninety day window would ultimately cause contractors to file liens as soon as they complete work, without regard to timely payment. This result would both significantly increase the cost of construction, by requiring contractors to file and amend all liens almost immediately after work was performed and would burden owners with numerous liens creating clouds on title which would ultimately be cleared, at considerable expense, once payment was made in the regular course.

The Order granting the Motion to Dismiss the lien focused on doctrine of statutory construction which generally dictates that if a statute states a rule clearly and unambiguously, it should be interpreted as written. With regard to the South Carolina amended lien statute, however, there is no clear and unambiguous instruction on whether a lien is defective if it fails to state the valid and current contractor's license on the face of the lien, and there is no clear and unambiguous instruction that a lien cannot be amended to correct a technical defect after the ninety day period.

Indeed, applying the same rules of construction employed in the Order sub judice, it is noted that South Carolina Code Section 29-5-90 provides specifically for dissolution of a lien, but only in instances where the statement of account is not timely filed within ninety days. The legislature and statute created a specific section in 29-5-90 to instruct the specific and unique instance(s) when a lien is dissolved by operation of law, and that section does not reflect the instance of a technical omission such as the contractor's license. The statute does not require dissolution or dismissal in that instance which is the instance before the Court. Reading the statute narrowly, as Respondent argues, does not lead to a result dismissing Plaintiff's lien because the statute states when a lien should be dissolved or dismissed, and that situation is not

the situation where a lien omits an otherwise valid contractor's license.

C. The trial court's ruling contravenes customary lien practice in Beaufort County. Counsel's review of liens filed in Beaufort County since the Act 40 statute amendment in 2009 reflected a large number of liens, and possibly a majority of liens filed and enforced, that do not include a contractor's license on the face of the lien. As of the date of the hearing in this matter, there was no reported judicial decision whereby South Carolina appellate courts had ruled against enforcement of a lien, or upheld the dismissal of a lien, due to the omission of the contractor's license alone. Counsel argues that a significant number of attorneys and filing parties in Beaufort are not and were not aware of this requirement. The Order granting the Motion to Dismiss Lien due the omission of a statement of an otherwise valid and current license alone, even after a corrective amendment, leads to an unexpected and unfair result.

D. Foreclosure in South Carolina is an action in equity and the within suit is a lien foreclosure action. Thus, the trial court possesses discretion in this matter to evaluate the parties' positions and reach a result that balances the equities. In the instant matter, the statute states that a lienor must state its South Carolina license on or in its filed lien. It does not, however, state that the lien should be dismissed, or is unenforceable, if the license is omitted. Further, the statute does not state that the lien cannot be amended to correct this initial error, before or after ninety days. Thus, the statute is ambiguous regarding its application to the facts of this case, and the trial court possessed equitable jurisdiction to interpret the state in a manner that balances the equities and attempts to reach a fair result. In the instant case, there is no harm or prejudice to the Respondent if lien is held to be enforceable, after the amendment, and the case is permitted to proceed on the merits of the contract claims. However, the trial court's ruling presents significant potential prejudice to the Appellant whose suit is against a corporate party whom could readily sell or convert the property subject to the lien prior to adjudication of

the underlying suit, leaving the Appellant with limited and complicated collection remedies to collect on funds generated by Appellant's expended labor and improvements were it to prevail on the merits.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, Appellant requests that the Honorable Court reverse the trial court's order granting Respondent's Motion to Dismiss Lien and remit this matter for further proceedings on the merits.

January 3, 2025