RECEIVED

Jan 03 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Marvin H. Dukes III, Master in Equity and
Special Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001127

Stax Building & Development, LLC

Appellant,

v.

HHI Yacht Club Ventures, LLC

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

Jason W. Ward
S.C. Bar No. 72928
GOING | WARD, LLC
7 Simmonsville Road, Suite 200
Bluffton, South Carolina 29910
843-706-2896
Attorney for the Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant is a construction company, and Respondent the owner of real property located in the Yacht Club area of Hilton Head Island. The parties entered into two separate contracts wherein Appellant agreed to build, and Respondent agreed to pay Appellant to build, condominium units (the "Project") (R. pp. 40-41). Appellant filed its initial mechanic's lien ("Initial Lien") in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Beaufort County on February 8, 2023, alleging it was owed \$252,179.38 by the Respondent (R. p. 3; R. pp. 11-13; R. p. 27). Appellant filed an Amended Lien ("Amended Lien") on March 31, 2023, alleging it was owed \$314,725.95 by the Respondent (R. pp. 3-4; R. p. 28). Appellant filed its second Amended Lien ("Second Amended Lien") on June 14, 2023, alleging it was owed \$422,222.78 by the Respondent (R. p. 4; R. p. 28; R. pp. 51-53). Appellant also filed the underlying non-jury action on June 14, 2023, seeking to foreclose its Second Amended Lien, and also pleading causes of action for breach of contract and unjust enrichment/quantum meruit (R. p. 4; R. pp. 38-44). Appellant filed its third Amended Lien ("Third Amended Lien") on July 13, 2023, in which the amount it alleged was owed remained the same but for the first time Appellant listed its license number on the lien (R. p. 4; R. pp. 14-16; R. p. 7). Several days later, on July 18, 2023, Appellant filed its Amended Complaint, seeking to foreclose the Third Amended Lien, while also pleading causes of action for breach of contract and unjust enrichment/quantum meruit (R. pp. 31-37). All of the filed liens, Complaint, and Amended Complaint allege Appellant's last day of providing labor and/or materials on the Project was January 12, 2023 (R. pp. 11-16; R. pp. 31-44).

After a short extension, Respondent timely filed its Answer on August 25, 2023, and alleged the mechanic's lien was invalid due to a failure to comply with Section 29-5-15(A), S.C. Code Ann., which requires that the mechanic's lien contains the contractor's license number (R. p. 4). Respondent filed its Motion to Dismiss the Mechanic's Lien on September 18, 2023, with a hearing being held on November 7, 2023, resulting in the order granting Respondent's motion being filed on January 25, 2024 (R. pp. 3-7). Appellant filed its Motion to Alter, Amend and Reconsider on February 5, 2024, with same being denied by order filed on May 24, 2024 (R. p. 25). Respondent filed its Release of Lien Bond on March 11, 2024, and Appellant mailed its Notice of Appeal on June 21, 2024.

There are no transcripts available for the hearing on the Motion to Dismiss Mechanic's Lien or the hearing on the Motion to Alter and Amend the trial court's Order Granting Motion to Dismiss Mechanic's Lien.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The interpretation of a statute is a question of law for the Court to review de novo. *DomainsNewMedia.com, LLC v. Hilton Head Island-Bluffton Chamber of Commerce*, 423 S.C. 295, 300, 814 S.E.2d 513, 516 (2018).

ARGUMENT

A. Plain Meaning

The Appellant, by its own admission, failed to comply with Section 29-5-15, S.C. Code Ann. (the "Statute"), which is set forth below, by not listing its state license number on the mechanic's lien(s) it filed. The Statute was amended in 2009 to require a contractor to provide proof of its licensure, and the amendment contains the word "must" two times in setting forth this requirement.

SECTION 29-5-15. Filing requirements; penalty for frivolous lien.

(A) To file a mechanics' lien, a contractor ***must*** provide the county clerk of court or register of deeds proof that he is licensed or registered if he is required by law to be licensed or registered. As proof of licensure or registration, the contractor ***must*** record his contractor license number or registration number on the lien document when the lien document is filed.

(B) A contractor who files a frivolous lien is subject to a fine up to five thousand dollars, the loss of his registration or contractor license, or both.

HISTORY: 2009 Act No. 40, Section 2, eff June 2, 2009 [Emphasis added].

The Appellant, a licensed builder, failed to include its license number on the Initial Lien, Amended Lien, and Second Amended Lien, only including it on the Third Amended Lien, which was filed July 13, 2023, over six (6) months after Appellant last provided labor and/or materials on the Project. While other portions of Title 29, Chapter 5 (the “Mechanics’ Liens Statute”), S.C. Code, allow for information to be corrected or specified, such as Section 29-5-100, which states, in part, that “No inaccuracy in such statement relating to the property to be covered by the lien, if the property can be reasonably recognized, or in stating the amount due for labor or materials shall invalidate the proceedings”, the 2009 amendment to Section 29-5-15 makes clear that the contractor’s licensure information must be contained on the lien when filed.

Indeed, the first sentence of the phrase in question, “To file a mechanics' lien, a contractor must provide...”, is written in a basic grammatical structure where “must” indicates a requirement or necessity. The Mechanics’ Liens Statute does not list the licensure requirement when discussing what type of information the mechanic’s lien shall contain; rather, it states that *in order to file* a mechanic’s lien the filer *must* list the contractor’s license number on the lien. The language is abundantly clear. Under the plain meaning rule, it is not the court's place to change the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute. “Where the statute's language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear, definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court

has no right to impose another meaning." *Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts*, 393 S.C. 332, 342, 713 S.E.2d 278, 283 (2011) (cited by *S.C. Pub. Interest Found. v. Calhoun Cty. Council*, 432 S.C. 492, 497, 854 S.E.2d 836, 838 (2021)).

B. Corrections to the Mechanic's Lien

Appellant's argument that the absence of a provision in the Mechanics' Liens Statute that specifically disallows one from amending a mechanic's lien means that one may be amended at any time for any reason, or that absence of such language renders said statute ambiguous, is incorrect. In fact, as set forth above, the Mechanics' Liens Statute allows, in Section 29-5-100, for corrections to the amount owed, or in order to better describe the property that is encumbered by the lien. Further, the fact that the Mechanics' Liens Statute specifically sets forth which items can be corrected implicitly concludes that items not so listed may not be changed. Contrary to Appellant's argument, such (allowed) corrections are not limited to being provided within the initial ninety (90) day window after labor and/or materials have been provided on a project; such corrections appear to be able to be provided anytime.

C. Legislative Intent/Lien Practice

While there is no documentation to support Appellant's arguments regarding the legislative intent associated with the amendment to the Statute, or the purported effects that the Circuit Court's ruling will have on lien practice in Beaufort County, Respondent does not believe that either argument should or does substantively apply to this matter. Appellant's arguments as to these subjects are supported by Appellant's counsel's undocumented discussion with one of the sponsors of the bill that ultimately resulted in the Amended statute, and said counsel's review of other liens filed in Beaufort County that purportedly do not comply with the amended Statute. Respectfully, whether others have complied with the amended Statute is immaterial, and given the plain and

unambiguous language of the statute, legislative intent is not necessary to study in the present matter. However, if it were, Appellant has provided no documentable evidence or support that suggests the legislative intent was in any way different from the plain meaning of the language of the amended Statute.

“The primary rule of statutory construction is to ascertain the intent of the General Assembly. *Amisub of S.C., Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control*, 407 S.C. 583, 597, 757 S.E.2d 408, 416 (2014). "Where the statute's language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear, definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning." *Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts*, 393 S.C. 332, 342, 713 S.E.2d 278, 283 (2011). Accordingly, courts will "give words their plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation." *State v. Sweat*, 386 S.C. 339, 350, 688 S.E.2d 569, 575 (2010) (citation omitted).”

S.C. Pub. Interest Found. v. Calhoun Cty. Council, 432 S.C. 492, 497, 854 S.E.2d 836, 838 (2021).

CONCLUSION

Given the facts of this matter and the plain and unambiguous language contained in the amended Statute, Respondent requests this Honorable Court affirm the trial court’s order granting Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss Lien.